FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/9/2022 2:38 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/9/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100730-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82002-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

PAMELA LYNN DODDRIDGE,

Petitioner,

and

WILLIAM SCOTT DODDRIDGE,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BREWE LAYMAN, P.S. SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Kenneth E. Brewe
WSBA No. 9220
By: Catherine W. Smith
WSBA No. 9542
Valerie A. Villacin

WSBA No. 34515

PO Box 488 1619 8th Avenue North Everett, WA 98206 Seattle, WA 98109 (425) 252-5167 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Petitioner

A. Identity of Petitioner.

The petitioner is Pamela Doddridge, appellant in the Court of Appeals.

B. Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' December 6, 2021, decision (Appendix A) affirming the trial court's decision dismissing her petition seeking an equitable distribution of property acquired during the parties' 16-year committed intimate relationship under CR 12(b)(6) as modified by its "substitute opinion" issued on February 7, 2022 eliminating the grounds it relied upon in affirming the trial court's decision. (Appendix B) The Court of Appeals denied petitioner's timely motion for reconsideration or publication on February 7, 2022. (Appendix C)

C. Issue Presented for Review.

Whether the fact that the parties are still "legally married" precludes application as a matter of law of the

committed intimate relationship (CIR) doctrine to prevent unjust enrichment of the economically-advantaged cohabitant and effect a just and equitable distribution of community-like property that was acquired during the parties' 16-year cohabitation, which commenced after a judgment of legal separation was entered?

D. Statement of the Case.

As petitioner's equitable claims were dismissed under CR 12(b)(6), this statement of the case reflects the requirement that the courts "must accept all factual allegations and all reasonable inferences therefore from as true" in favor of petitioner. *McCarthy v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 110 Wn.2d 812, 822, 759 P.2d 351 (1988).

1. Pamela and William legally separated in California in 2002 after 12 years of marriage.

Petitioner Pamela Doddridge and respondent William Doddridge were married on November 3, 1989. (CP 24) Their marital relationship was terminated by a

judgment of legal separation in California, where the parties both then lived, on April 22, 2002. (CP 15) The judgment of legal separation¹ incorporated the parties' property settlement agreement, and provided that "it is the parties' specific intention that this judgment of legal separation constitute a full, final and complete division, distribution and disposition of the community assets and obligations of the parties." (CP 31)

In the judgment of legal separation, Pamela was awarded maintenance for 73 months (half the length of the marriage), with the express goal of providing Pamela a

As in Washington, a judgment or decree of legal separation in California "is designed to resolve the financial issues between the parties, including division of community assets and liabilities and determination of support obligations." *Estate of Lahey*, 76 Cal. App. 4th 1056, 1059, 91 Cal. Rptr.2d 30 (1999). A judgment of legal separation "continues to permit the parties to a marriage to separate their financial affairs without severing their marital bond." *Irvin v. Contra Costa Cnty. Employees' Ret. Assn.*, 13 Cal. App. 5th 162, 168, 220 Cal. Rptr.3d 510, 517 (2017); *Marriage of Moody*, 137 Wn.2d 979, 987, 976 P.2d 1240 (1999).

"reasonable period of time" to become "self-supporting." (CP 24-25) Consistent with California law, the parties were each awarded half the community assets, and their separate property was confirmed to them, as their "sole and separate property." (CP 25-29)

It was William's idea that the parties obtain a judgment of legal separation, rather than a divorce. (CP 61) For all practical purposes, the judgment of legal separation had the effect of dividing the parties' property and establishing support obligations just as if they had been divorced. RCW 26.09.080, .090; Cal. Fam. Code §2550, §4330.

2. After their legal separation, Pamela and William reconciled, lived together, and built up William's business for 16 years, much of that time in Washington.

After entry of the judgment of legal separation, Pamela moved out of the family home, which had been awarded to William (CP 61), and began working to complete her accounting degree, which would have allowed her to become "self-supporting" as contemplated by the judgment of legal separation. (CP 24-25) But a year after the judgment was entered, the parties reconciled. William moved into the house Pamela had purchased after their legal separation, and thereafter the parties resumed the life they had been living prior to entry of the judgment of legal separation. (CP 62)

Although Pamela had completed her accounting degree by 2004, shortly after the parties reconciled, William did not want Pamela to have a job. He liked that Pamela "was home to cook his dinner," and having a job would have "stifled" Pamela's ability to travel with him. (CP 62) The parties traveled regularly for William's jewelry business; Pamela planned the parties' transportation for site visits to stores, as well as to locations where William anticipated opening new stores. (CP 62)

As William's business grew, the parties began spending more and more time together in Washington. After both parties obtained their pilot licenses in 2007, William acquired three aircraft, and purchased a hangar at the Anacortes airport in 2010. (CP 63) In 2012, William purchased a home in Anacortes. (CP 80) Although it was deeded to him as a "legally separated man as his sole and separate estate" (CP 80) Pamela oversaw a remodel of the Anacortes home, where they lived together with their five children. (CP 61, 63) The parties' daughter was married on the Anacortes property in 2017. (CP 64)

By 2015, Pamela had changed her official residence to Washington. William followed suit in 2017. (CP 63) Pamela managed a blueberry farm William purchased in 2018, deeded in the name of a Washington LLC. (CP 64) Having reconciled, neither party had the incentive to seek to "convert" their legal separation into a decree of

dissolution in either Washington or California. Cal. Fam. Code §2347; RCW 26.09.150(2)(a).²

In these proceedings, William claims "I put the real or personal property that I wanted to own as my separate property in my name or the name of one of the business entities I own, and I put the property that I wanted Pamela to own as her separate property in her name³." (CP 68) William also makes much of the fact that he paid maintenance (which he could, of course, deduct from his "separate" income) under the judgment of legal separation—until the obligation, premised on Pamela

_

² As in Washington, once a California judgment of legal separation is entered, either party may request a subsequent dissolution of the marriage. When converting a judgment of legal separation to a decree of dissolution, the courts' authority in both states is limited to dissolving the marriage. Cal. Fam. Code §2347; RCW 26.09.150(2)(a). (See §E.2, supra)

³ William put the valuable family home in Anacortes, which Pamela remodeled, in his name. (CP 68, 80) He put a car, a tractor, and two boats in Pamela's name. (CP 64)

beginning "self-supporting," terminated in May 2010. (CP 24-25)

William also argues in these proceedings that he had "honored [his] obligations and managed finances according to the Judgment, and Pamela should have to do the same." (CP 69) But given the procedural posture of this case—having been dismissed under CR 12(b)(6)—and Pamela's allegations in her petition, another indisputable consequence of the parties' post-separation relationship was the enhancement of William's "separate" estate through the parties' joint efforts, while Pamela lost the ability to become "self-supporting" and "manage" her own "separate" estate because the parties had reconciled and William decided what assets she should "own."

Although the parties cohabitated primarily in Washington, they stayed in the house Pamela had purchased after their legal separation when they were in California. (CP 63) The parties separated for a final time in

May 2019, after Pamela learned that William was having an affair with one of his employees while he was staying in the California house Pamela had purchased after the parties' legal separation. (CP 64-65) William continued to stay in Pamela's California house until it was sold in 2020; Pamela remained in the Anacortes house. (CP 68)

3. Pamela filed a petition in Skagit County seeking an equitable distribution of property acquired during the parties' committed intimate relationship.

On January 30, 2020, Pamela filed a petition for equitable relief, based on the parties' 16-year committed intimate relationship, in Skagit County Superior Court. (CP 1) The petition acknowledged the April 2002 judgment of legal separation entered in California (CP 1-2), and Pamela has expressly disavowed any rights arising before its entry, stating "the judgment of legal separation settled the property issues existing between the parties from the time they married until the time they were legally separated, and

Petitioner is not seeking to relitigate those issues." (CP 43)

Pamela instead alleged that the parties had since reunited and that they had been in a committed intimate relationship since 2003. She asked the court "to fairly and equitably divide all of the assets/debts acquired by the parties during committed intimate relationship" or "award such other relief as is just and equitable." (CP 2)

On April 11, 2020, William moved to dismiss Pamela's petition for equitable relief under CR 12 on the lacked grounds that Washington subject matter jurisdiction over the action, that the 2002 California judgment precluded Pamela's claims for an equitable division of assets acquired during the parties' alleged committed intimate relationship, and that the fact the legally parties still married prohibited were determination that the parties were in a committed intimate relationship. (CP 4) William did not dispute that, were it not for the judgment of legal separation, the parties

would be considered to be in a committed intimate relationship. Instead William claimed it would be "unfair" to allow Pamela to assert an equitable interest in properties acquired during their post-separation cohabitation. (*See* CP 68-69, 95)

4. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Pamela's action under CR 12(b)(6) based solely on "the parties' uncontroverted marital status."

Skagit County Superior Court Judge Laura Riquelme ("the trial court") initially denied Williams' motion to dismiss on June 10, 2020. (CP 114-15) The trial court reasoned that the CIR action was "distinct" from the California action and that because Pamela's current action was limited to seeking an equitable division of property acquired during the parties' post-judgment relationship, after the parties' legal separation, the California judgment did not preclude Washington from exercising jurisdiction over post-separation assets. (RP 20)

William moved for reconsideration on June 19, 2020. (CP 116) On September 24, 2020, without hearing further argument, the trial court granted William's motion and dismissed Pamela's action with prejudice under CR 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim on which relief can be granted, on the grounds that "the uncontroverted fact of the parties' lawful marriage bars Petitioner from pursuing this claim of a committed intimate partnership in Washington." (CP 378)

In explaining why it was dismissing the action, the trial court acknowledged that the "equities" had guided its initial decision, because if Pamela "could have proven that the parties had a committed intimate relationship through which they accumulated property, it would have been inequitable to bar her from pursuing legal remedies." (CP 377) In now dismissing the action, the trial court stated that Pamela was "not without legal recourse," because "[t]here is no indication that the separation in California

would prevent her from seeking a divorce and division of any property the parties accumulated together following the legal separation but while still lawfully married. While property acquired after separation is considered separate property in both California and Washington, California courts also have equitable powers." (CP 378)

Pamela moved for reconsideration of the trial court's order on reconsideration dismissing her action with prejudice, pointing out that there no evidence or argument that she would have "legal recourse" in California. The trial court denied Pamela's motion for reconsideration, on the grounds that whether California would afford Pamela equitable relief was irrelevant to its dismissal of the action with prejudice, because "[a]s long as Washington law requires that parties not be legally married to each other to succeed on a committed intimate relationship claim, this case may not proceed." (CP 381)

Division One affirmed. (App. B 1) The Court held that "the CIR doctrine does not apply to married couples. Instead, its purpose is to protect the interests of unmarried parties who acquire property during a marital-like relationship." (App. B 4) "Because Pamela and William were still married between 2003 and 2020, the CIR doctrine does not apply to the division of their assets." (App. B 4-5) Division One reasoned that "Pamela is not without remedy. She can seek relief from the decree of legal separation and the separate property provision of which she now complains under CR 60(b)(11). . . . If relief is justified, she can then petition the proper jurisdiction to dissolve her marriage and make a just and equitable disposition of marital assets and liabilities." (App. B 6)

E. Why This Court Should Grant Review.

This Court created the committed intimate relationship (CIR) doctrine to provide an equitable remedy for individuals like Pamela who do not have a statutory

mechanism for obtaining a just and equitable distribution of assets that were acquired by cohabitants during their relationship, so that one party is not unjustly enriched when the relationship ends. *Connell v. Francisco*, 127 Wn.2d 339, 349, 898 P.2d 831 (1995). Petitioner asks the Court to accept review of Division One's decision affirming the dismissal of her equitable claims under CR 12(b)(6) because the Court of Appeals' mechanistic view of the parties' relationship, and their rights, conflicts with cases of this Court and the Court of Appeals and with the "equitable underpinnings" of the CIR doctrine.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Marriage of Moody*. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

In affirming the trial court's motion to dismiss for equitable relief under CR 12(b)(6), Division One reasoned that Pamela "is not without remedy" because "[s]he can seek relief from the decree of legal separation under CR 60(b)(11)." (App. B 6) The Court of Appeals' decision

conflicts with this Court's decision in *Marriage of Moody*, 137 Wn.2d 979, 976 P.2d 1240 (1999), which held that a decree of legal separation cannot be vacated and reopened based on the parties' reconciliation after the decree was entered.

In holding that Pamela can seek relief under CR 60(b)(11) "if she can show any reasons 'justifying relief from the operation of the judgment" (App. B 6), the opinion also wrongly presumed that Pamela has some quarrel with the terms of the judgment of legal separation. (See App. B 6, n.5) Pamela has always made clear that her action was brought to address her equitable interest in quasi-community property that arose after the judgment of legal separation was entered (see App. Br. 23-24; Reply Br. 11, 19-23; CP 43), property interests not addressed in the judgment of legal separation—or in Division One's opinion.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Parentage* of L.B. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Pamela seeks relief under the CIR doctrine because she has no statutory remedy to address her equitable interest in assets acquired by the parties after their judgment of legal separation was entered, while they were living in a committed intimate relationship. In holding that the CIR doctrine can never apply if the parties are married, Division One's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions holding that courts retain power to invoke their "equity powers and common law responsibility" to provide a remedy when "legislative enactments that may have spoken to the area of law, but did so incompletely." Parentage of L.B., 155 Wn.2d 679, 689, ¶15, 122 P.3d 161 (2005), cert. denied, 547 U.S. 1143 (2006); see also Custody of B.M.H., 179 Wn.2d 224, 242-43, ¶34, 315 P.3d 470 (2013).

Division One's substituted opinion makes clear that no statute will provide Pamela with the "specific relief" she seeks. Division One's initial opinion reasoned that Pamela "can petition the proper jurisdiction to dissolve her marriage and move to modify maintenance or reopen the distribution of property" (App. A 6, citing RCW 26.09.020, .070., 170; Cal. Fam. Code §2556), claiming that its holding was premised on the proposition that "a court will not grant equitable relief when a statute provides specific relief." (App. A 6, citing *Marriage of Barber*, 106 Wn. App. 390, 393, 23 P.3d 1106 (2001)).

As petitioner pointed out in her motion for reconsideration, Division One's initial decision overlooked both the fact that William's maintenance obligation had terminated 12 years ago (CP 24), and the law that only "modification of future spousal maintenance" is authorized by RCW 26.09.170(1). *Moody*, 137 Wn.2d at 990; *Brown v. Brown*, 8 Wn. App. 528, 530, 507 P.2d 157 (1973);

Mason v. Mason, 40 Wn. App. 450, 457, 698 P.2d 1104, rev. denied, 104 Wn.2d 1017 (1985).

Division One also overlooked the fact that even if Pamela were to "petition the proper jurisdiction to dissolve her marriage" (App. A 6), the law would prohibit Pamela from seeking a just and equitable division of property acquired after the judgment of legal separation was entered when converting the judgment of legal separation to a decree of dissolution. RCW 26.09.150(2)(a) limits the courts' authority solely to dissolving the marital bonds left intact by the judgment of legal separation. The same is true under Cal. Fam. Code §2347. While Cal. Fam. Code §2556 allows a court to award "community estate assets or community estate liabilities to the parties that have not been previously adjudicated by a judgment in the proceeding" (emphasis added), Pamela does not claim that any community assets were omitted in the judgment of legal separation.

On reconsideration, Division One completely excised this portion of the opinion reasoning that Pamela had statutory rights foreclosing her CIR claim. (*Compare* App. A 6 to App. B 6) The substituted opinion did nothing, however, to correct its denial of Pamela's equitable rights; it only highlighted the erroneous legal rationale for its decision. By excising this entire portion of its opinion after Pamela pointed out in her motion for reconsideration that none of the statutory provisions that the Court cited in the initial opinion provide a "remedy," Division One confirmed that Pamela has no statutory remedy, gutting its reason for holding that the CIR doctrine was unavailable to her.

As this Court noted in L.B., it is an "unsurprising fact that statutes often fail to contemplate all potential scenarios which may arise in the ever changing and evolving notion of familial relations. Yet, simply because a statute fails to speak to a specific situation should not, and does not in our common law system, operate to preclude

the availability of potential redress." 155 Wn.2d at 706-07, ¶37. Division One's refusal to recognize our courts' "equity powers and common law responsibility" to apply the CIR doctrine to "address gaps in existing statutory enactments" "fill interstices and that legislative enactments do not cover" thus conflicts with this Court's decision in L.B., 155 Wn.2d at 689, ¶14 (emphasis in original).

Equitable relief was particularly called for here, as William's strategy for denying Pamela any equitable claim in his post-separation acquisitions depends upon the unavailability of a statutory remedy. William claims that Pamela has no legal recourse in California, even if she were to return there to convert the judgment of legal separation to judgment of dissolution, because any property acquired by him after the parties first separated was his "sole and separate property." (CP 6-7, 94-95, 210-11; *see also* Resp. Br. 7); *see* Cal. Fam. Code §772 ("After entry of a judgment

of legal separation of the parties, the earnings or accumulations of each party are the separate property of the party acquiring the earnings or accumulations") (discussed at App. Br. 27-28); Cal. Fam. Code §2550 (prohibiting the award of the separate property of one spouse to be awarded to the other).

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