FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/22/2022 3:59 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100730-2 Court of Appeals No. 82002-8-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_\_

Marriage of:

PAMELA LYNN DODDRIDGE,

Petitioner,

٧.

WILLIAM SCOTT DODDRIDGE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

\_\_\_\_\_

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362
Office: 241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
<a href="mailto:ken@appeal-law.com">ken@appeal-law.com</a>
shelby@appeal-law.com

Attorneys for Respondent

## **

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

Indeed, it is to ignore the very nature of a judgment of legal separation – to remain married but sever financial ties. *Moody*, 137 Wn.2d at 987.

In short, the appellate opinion is entirely consistent with *Moody*, both providing Pamela with a clear *statutory* remedy. This Court should deny review.

## B. There is no conflict with *Parentage of L.B.*

This matter does not and cannot conflict with *Parentage of L.B.*, as it is inapposite. 155 Wn.2d 679, 689, 122 P.3d 161 (2005), *cert. denied*, *Britain v. Carvin*, 547 U.S. 1143 (2006)); Pet. 17-23. At issue in *L.B.* was whether Carvin, who was neither a biological nor adoptive parent, had standing under Washington statutory or common law to petition the courts for a determination of parentage or visitation. *L.B.*, 155 Wn.2d at 683; 121 Wn. App. 460, 470, 89 P.3d 271 (2004). This Court affirmed the appellate decision that Carvin lacked standing under the 2002 Uniform Parentage Act ("UPA"), which defined "mother" by

childbirth, and parentage by marital status. 155 Wn.2d at 683; 121 Wn. App. at 471-75. Since Carvin did not give birth to L.B., and since she was not married to Britain (her same-gender partner who she could not marry at the time), she lacked standing under the UPA. Id. And Carvin also had no statutory right to visitation, where this Court had previously struck down as unconstitutional Washington's third-party custody statutes. L.B., 155 Wn.2d at 713-15 (citing *Parentage of C.A.M.A.*, 154 Wn.2d 52, 109 P.3d 405 (2005)). This was the "gap" in Washington's statutory scheme – Carvin was a parent in every sense of the word but our former statutes failed to include her by virtue of her gender and marital status.

Seeking to align this case with *L.B.*, Pamela claims that "Division One's decision conflicts with [*L.B.* and others] holding that courts retain power to invoke their 'equity powers and common law responsibility' to provide a remedy when 'legislative enactments that may have

spoken to the area of law, but did so incompletely." Pet. 17. She argues that "this Court in *L.B.* relied on the CIR doctrine as an example of when our courts have 'invoked their equity' powers to respond to the needs of 'families in the face of changing realities...." Pet. 22 (quoting *Connell v. Francisco*, 127 Wn.2d 339, 348-50, 898 P.2d 831 (1995)). She claims that no statute offers her the "specific relief' she seeks": a just and equitable distribution of assets acquired after the parties legally separated but remained married. Pet. 17-23. Pamela claims that this "gap" should be filled by the CIR. Pet. 21-22.

*L.B.* is inapposite, so the appellate decision cannot and does not conflict with it. Carvin lacked *standing* under the UPA, so had no statutory pathway to any relief whatsoever. Pamela plainly has standing under RCW 26.09 (dissolution proceedings and legal separation) and a number of statutory protections that come with it. When the parties initially separated, they had the option to divorce,

legally separate, or seek a declaration of invalidity. See e.g. RCW 26.09.020-.040, .150, .170; Cal. Fam. Code § 2010. They elected legal separation. Since the parties elected legal separation, Pamela's current statutory remedy is converting her judgment of legal separation to a decree of dissolution. RCW 26.09.150(2); Cal. Fam. Code § 2347. And since Pamela wants a distribution of the assets William acquired after their date of legal separation – and presumably a distribution of *all property and debt including hers* – then she has yet another statutory remedy: reopening the judgment. RCW 26.09.170(1); CR 60(b)(11).

This matter has never been about the absence of a statutory remedy, much less a lack of standing. It is about Pamela not liking the remedy she has. "Generally, a court cannot grant equitable relief when a statute provides specific relief." *Marriage of Barber*, 106 Wn. App. 390, 393, 23 P.3d 1106 (2001). That is, "Equity does not intervene when there is a complete and adequate remedy

at law." *Barber*, 106 Wn. App. at 393 (quoting *Ballard v. Wooster*, 182 Wash. 408, 413, 45 P.2d 511 (1935)); see also *Smith v. Smith*, 4 Wn. App. 608, 613-14, 484 P.2d 409 (1971).

Pamela's remaining arguments regarding *L.B.* are equally unpersuasive. Pamela complains that her remedy is incomplete because reopening the judgment will not allow her to retroactively modify maintenance. Pet. 18-19. A CIR distribution does not permit maintenance either. See RCW 26.09.090(1) (limiting maintenance awards to proceedings for dissolution, legal separation, and declaration of invalidity); *Foster v. Thilges*, 61 Wn. App. 880, 887-88, 812 P.2d 523 (1991) (rejecting award of attorney fees in a CIR, where such actions do not arise under Chapter 26.09 RCW).

Pamela also argues the appellate court overlooked that in converting her judgment of legal separation to a decree of dissolution, "the law would prohibit [her] from

seeking a just and equitable division of property acquired after the judgment of legal separation was entered ...." Pet. 19 (citing RCW 26.09.150(2)(a)). She similarly claims that the appellate court "confirmed that [she] has no statutory remedy ...." Pet. 20. Both are inaccurate. Pamela continues to ignore that if she succeeds in reopening the judgment, she will be entitled to a just and equitable distribution of assets pursuant to dissolution of marriage. See Op. 6; RCW 26.09.170(1); CR 60(b)(11).

Pamela next argues that under *L.B.*, the common law must step in where the Legislature cannot contemplate all potential scenarios that may arise in family law. Pet. 20-21. But this scenario is entirely predictable. The very nature of a legal separation is that the parties sever financial ties but remain married. *Moody*, 137 Wn.2d at 987. It is entirely predictable that parties who want to remain married might continue – or resume – a committed intimate relationship.

rather than divorce "[a]pparently because [they] believed that reconciliation was possible").

In short, there is no conflict with *L.B.*, which does not support providing equitable relief where, as here, there is specific statutory relief. This Court should deny review.

## C. There is no conflict with Vasquez v. Hawthorne.

There is no conflict with this Court's decision in *Vasquez v. Hawthorne*, which does not "address the issue here – whether the CIR doctrine applies when the parties to a CIR petition are married." Op. 5 (addressing 145 Wn.2d 103, 33 P.3d 735 (2001)); Pet. 23-29. There, the trial court granted summary judgment for the plaintiff in an estate case, "finding that he and the male decedent were in a CIR." Op. 5 (citing *Vasquez*, 145 Wn.2d at 105). The appellate court reversed, "holding that a CIR could not exist between same-sex cohabitants who at that time could not legally marry." *Id.* This Court "disagreed, concluding that '[w]hen equitable claims are brought, the focus

remains on the equities involved between the parties. Equitable claims are not dependent on the 'legality' of the relationship between the parties, nor are they limited by the gender or sexual orientation of the parties." Op. 5 (quoting *Vasquez*, 145 Wn.2d at 107). This Court vacated the appellate decision and reversed the trial court, holding that it could not, as a matter of law, decide what equitable theories were most appropriate. 145 Wn.2d at 107-08.

The appellate court correctly held that "Vasquez does not support Pamela's argument that the CIR doctrine applies even when the parties seeking distribution of assets are married to each other. Instead, it establishes that the inability to marry lawfully does not foreclose application of the doctrine." Op. 5. Indeed, that the parties in Vasquez could not legally marry was "of no consequence" precisely because a "key element" of a CIR is that there is no lawful marriage:

But it is of no consequence to the cohabitating couple, same-sex or otherwise, whether they can legally marry. Indeed, one of the key elements of a meretricious relationship is knowledge by the partners that a *lawful* marriage between them does not exist.

**Gormley v. Robertson**, 120 Wn. App. 31, 37, 83 P.3d 1042 (2004).

Pamela nonetheless persists that under *Vasquez*, "the focus is on the 'equities involved between the parties' and not the 'legality of the relationship." Pet. 23 (quoting 145 Wn. 2d at 107-08). She claims this means that marriage is not dispositive of whether the CIR doctrine applies. Pet. 23-27. Rather, the "existence of a 'lawful marriage' is relevant to the CIR doctrine only because if a 'statute provides specific relief' the court need not resort to 'equitable relief." Pet. 27 (quoting *Barber*, 106 Wn. App. at 393).

Therein lies the point: the "existence of a 'lawful marriage' is relevant to the CIR doctrine" precisely because

Washington statutes provide "specific relief" to married people, such that the courts "need not resort to 'equitable relief" for them. *Id.* That the absence of a "lawful marriage" is an element of a CIR is consistent with numerous cases Pamela ignores:

- Connell: A CIR is, by definition, a "stable, marital-like relationship where both parties cohabit with knowledge that a lawful marriage between them does not exist." 127 Wn.2d 339, 346, 898 P.2d 831 (1995) (emphasis added) (citing Marriage of Lindsey, 101 Wn.2d 299, 304, 678 P.2d 328 (1984)).
- Marriage of Byerley: "Our Supreme Court has defined a [CIR] as a 'stable, marital-like relationship where both parties cohabit with knowledge that a lawful marriage between them does not exist." 183 Wn. App. 677, 685-86, 334 P.3d 108 (2014) (emphasis added) (quoting Connell, 127 Wn.2d at 346).
- Byerley: The purpose of the CIR doctrine is to "protect unmarried parties who acquire property during their relationships by preventing the unjust enrichment of one at the expense of the other when the relationship ends." 183 Wn. App. at 686 (emphasis added) (citing In re Pennington, 142 Wn.2d 592, 602, 14 P.3d 764 (2000)).
- In re Kelly and Moesslang: "The CIR doctrine is a judicially created doctrine used to resolve the property distribution issues that arise when unmarried people separate after living in a marital-

like relationship and acquiring what would have been community property had they been married." 170 Wn. App. 722, 732, 287 P.3d 12 (2012) (emphasis added) (citing **Vasquez**, 145 Wn.2d at 109 (Alexander, C.J., concurring)); William A. Reppy, Jr., Choice of Law Problems Arising When Unmarried Cohabitants Change Domicile, 55 SMU L. Rev. 273, 278 (2002)).

- **Kelly**: "CIR proceedings have been developed to divide property acquired by *unmarried* cohabitating partners." 170 Wn. App. at 732 (emphasis added).
- Committed Intimate Relationship of Amburgey & **Volk**: "A CIR 'is a stable, marital-like relationship where both parties cohabit with knowledge that a lawful marriage between them does not exist." [Connell, 127 Wn.2d at 346]. 'The CIR doctrine is a judicially created doctrine used to resolve the property distribution issues that arise unmarried people separate after living in a maritallike relationship and acquiring what would have been community property had they been married.' [Kelly, 170 Wn. App. at 732]. This doctrine, which is based on equitable principles, protects the interests of unmarried couples who acquire property during their relationship by preventing the unjust enrichment of one at the expense of the other when the relationship ends. [*Pennington*, 142 Wn.2d at 602]. 8 Wn. App. 2d 779, 787, 440 P.3d 1069 (2019) (emphasis added).

And Pamela ignores reality, claiming that William's argument that he relied on the judgment of legal separation in managing his after acquired separate property "is no

different than the complaint of every man who, in the decades during which our courts developed the CIR doctrine, unsuccessfully argued that had he wanted his romantic partner to have an interest in property acquired during their relationship, he 'would have married her.'" Pet 27-28. But as the appellate court correctly points out, Pamela benefited greatly under the separation agreement in the judgment of legal separation, agreed that all after-acquired assets and debts would be separate property, and admitted she entered the agreement freely, voluntarily, and completely – informed:

As much as Pamela argues her available remedy is unjust, she disregards that she agreed under the separation contract that asserts and obligations obtained or incurred after separation would be separate. And she told the California trial court that she was entering the separation agreement "fully and completely informed as to . . . [her] rights and liabilities," and that she was doing so "voluntarily" and "free from fraud, undue influence, coercion or duress of any kind." She also ignores the benefits she received under the separation agreement—distribution of marital assets, a parenting plan, child

support, and spousal maintenance—despite the parties' continued marriage.

Op. 6 n.5. Thus, Pamela is not similarly situated to an unmarried person leaving a CIR whose only protection is the common law doctrine.

In short, the appellate opinion is entirely consistent with the many cases providing that the CIR doctrine is available only to unmarried cohabitants. This Court should deny review.

## D. There is no conflict with *Marriage of Lindemann*.

There is no conflict with *Marriage of Lindeman*, in which the appellate court upheld a distribution of community-like assets accrued during a CIR between unmarried cohabitants, following their marriage, divorce, and reconciliation. 92 Wn. App. 64, 67-68, 71, 960 P.2d 966 (1998), *rev. denied*, 137 Wn.2d 1016 (1999)); Pet. 29-32. Unlike Pamela and William, the parties were unmarried during the only relevant time frame. *Lindeman*, 92 Wn.

App. at 67-68, 71. Thus, *Lindeman* is plainly inapposite, so cannot conflict with this case.

Yet Pamela argues the appellate opinion conflicts with *Lindeman* in "holding" that since Pamela received a distribution of assets, maintenance, and child support pursuant to the parties' legal separation, she is precluded from "pursuing equitable relief ...." Pet. 29-30 (citing Op. 6 n.5). That is not the appellate court's holding. Rather, it held that while the CIR does not apply to married couples, Pamela has other relief: setting aside the judgment and "a just and equitable disposition of martial assets and liabilities" pursuant to dissolution. Op. 6 (emphasis added). The statement Pamela refers to is not part of the appellate holding at all, but a response to Pamela's assertion that her statutory remedies are unjust. Op. 6 n.5; see also Argument § A, supra.

Attempting to align this matter with *Lindeman*,

Pamela argues that "[b]ut for the fact that the parties here

were legally separated, rather than divorced, their situation is no different than that of the parties in *Lindemann*." Pet. 31. That is a distinction with a difference. The parties' decision to legally separate rather than divorce has legal consequences, chief amongst them that they are married. Under Washington law, that matters.

Pamela similarly claims that the appellate opinion "consign[s her] to the property division and 'benefits' in the judgment of legal separation." *Id.* That too is false. The appellate opinion plainly provides that if Pamela can demonstrate that she is entitled to relief from the judgment of legal separation, then she may petition for dissolution and seek a just and equitable distribution of marital assets and liabilities. Op. 6. Pamela is not consigned *to the agreement she freely and voluntarily entered* – she need only to use the proper channels.

Finally, Pamela claims that like "the female cohabitant in *Lindeman*, [her] situation is precisely that

which the CIR doctrine was intended to protect." Pet. 32. As addressed above, however, the CIR is intended to protect *unmarried* cohabitants who, due to their status as unmarried, do not enjoy the benefits and protections of Washington's dissolution statutes when the relationship ends. *Supra*, Argument § C.

In short, this matter does not conflict with *Lindeman*, in which the CIR doctrine applied to unmarried cohabitants.

This Court should deny review.

## CONCLUSION

The appellate court's opinion is in line with controlling precedent from this Court and from the appellate courts and raises no conflicts. This Court should deny review.